

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Forest Ecology and Management



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/foreco

Review

A review of semiochemicals associated with bark beetle (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae) pests of coniferous trees: A focus on beetle interactions with other pests and their associates

C.W. Gitau^{a,*}, R. Bashford^b, A.J. Carnegie^c, G.M. Gurr^a

^a EH Graham Centre for Agricultural Innovation (Primary Industries, NSW and Charles Sturt University), PO Box 883, Orange, NSW 2800, Australia
 ^b Forestry Tasmania, 79 Melville Street, Hobart, TAS 7000, Australia
 ^c Forest Science Centre, Department of Primary Industries, PO Box 100, Beecroft, NSW 2119, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 August 2012 Received in revised form 12 February 2013 Accepted 13 February 2013 Available online 15 March 2013

Keywords: Bark beetles Chemical ecology Pest management Non-host volatiles Insect-plant interactions

ABSTRACT

Bark beetles (Curculionidae) have assumed increasing prominence as pests of coniferous trees and wood products. Some species of Ips and Dendroctonus introduce blue stain fungi that cause damage to trees and downgrading of wood products. In forest ecosystems, bark beetles respond to fire, frost, drought, lightening or windstorms, all of which can initiate tree stress. Silvicultural practices that improve tree vigour are widely used to manage these pests. Pruning, disposing of infested limbs and salvage logging following storm damage are also frequently employed. Systemic insecticide applications can be used to protect trees from beetle attack for several months to a year. Insecticides are also frequently used to protect trees of high value in landscape settings, seedlings in nurseries and can be used as bole sprays where trees may be treated during outbreaks Insecticides are, however, often uneconomical in natural and commercial forests, particularly in broad acre landscapes. Options for better management could involve the wider use of semiochemicals (pheromones and kairomones) that influence beetle behaviour such as feeding, mating and oviposition. Currently, semiochemicals are used extensively for monitoring bark beetle populations and for optimising timing of silviculture treatments. Semiochemical use for protecting trees using 'push-pull' strategies are promising and, in some cases, effective strategies for control of scolytines. Recent research shows that volatiles from unsuitable and non-host tree species could impede bark beetle attack on conifer trees. Applications of bark beetle pheromone components, such as verbenone, when used as a blend with non-host volatiles can deter scolytine bark beetles from trees. The use of semiochemicals and non-host volatiles in the management of bark beetles is, however, complicated when other insect pests and their associates are present together with bark beetles. Effective, management of bark beetles under these circumstances will depend on a better understanding of the key chemical ecology stimuli of relevance to each pest. We review semiochemicals of bark beetles and their use as interruptants or inhibitors when used together with non-host- volatiles. Implications of using semiochemicals when scolytine bark beetles attack trees together with other tree pests is discussed with an example of interactions between a wood wasp and an Ips species presented.

Crown Copyright © 2013 Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

	Introduction	
2.	Impacts of bark beetles	 2
3.	Life cycle and symbionts	 2
4.	Management of bark beetles	 3
5.	Semiochemicals of scolytine bark beetles	 3
	5.1. Host selection and colonisation	 4
	5.2. Aggregation	 4
	5.3. Semiochemicals and management of scolytine bark beetles in forest ecosystems	 6
	5.4. Use of volatiles from non-hosts in the management of bark beetles.	 7

* Corresponding author. Address: Charles Sturt University, Leeds Parade, PO Box 883, Orange, NSW 2800, Australia. Tel.: +61 263657897; fax: +61 263657578. *E-mail addresses:* cwanjirugitau@gmail.com, cgitau@csu.edu.au (C.W. Gitau).

0378-1127/\$ - see front matter Crown Copyright © 2013 Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.02.019

	Role of semiochemicals in integrated management of scolytine bark beetles	
7.	Interactions between scolytines and associated species	. 9
	7.1. Case study of <i>I. grandicollis</i> and the Sirex wood wasp in Australia	10
8.	Conclusions and priorities for future research	10
	Acknowledgements	11
	References	11

1. Introduction

Scolytine bark beetle species have been accidentally introduced in Europe (Lieutier et al., 2004), North America (Mattson et al., 1994) and Australia (Neumann, 1987). The presence of bark beetles is of concern as they are capable of killing even healthy trees in natural and commercial forests (Schowalter et al., 1981; Paine et al., 1997; Raffa et al., 2005), resulting in considerable economic impact (Lieutier et al., 2004). Aside from impact on cosmopolitan forestry species such as Pinus radiata D. Dons, beetles may also undergo a host switch to attack native tree species, with potentially serious ecological consequences (Six and Paine, 1999). The impacts of bark beetles in natural forests leads to the loss of native trees with adverse effects on ecosystem services such as water purification, stabilising slopes, carbon sequestration, conservation of wildlife and soil formation. Outbreaks may result in host replacement by other tree species and new plant associations that may impact timber and fibre production, fuels and fire behaviour, and aesthetics, recreation, grazing capacity, real estate values, biodiversity, carbon storage, cultural and other resources.

Approximately 3700 of the 7500 species in the weevil (Curculionidae) subfamily Scolytinae attack forest trees (Bright, 1993; Marvaldi et al., 2002). Scolytine bark beetles generally attack stressed trees and can lead to tree death (Kausrud et al., 2012). Beetle-related tree deaths subsequently cause openings in the forest canopy which increase the amount of sunlight reaching the understory below. Changes in sunlight alter both the canopy and understory species that grow back after beetle attack (Collins et al., 2011). Canopy reduction changes water dynamics and hence tree physiology (Jactel et al., 2009). In plantations and natural forests, trees attacked by bark beetles deteriorate leading to reduction in volume of timber harvested (Raymond, 2008). Investigations of many possible management tactics arising from semiochemical strategies have led to operational management programs such as suppression of bark beetle populations through the utilisation of semiochemical-baited traps and inhibitors to protect vulnerable host trees from attack. This review focuses on these applications and scolytines chemical ecology, especially on how semiochemicals from the beetles, their hosts or from non-host plants might be exploited for better management of this important group of forestry pests. Interactions between bark beetles and their associates are also discussed.

2. Impacts of bark beetles

In outbreak situations, bark beetle infestations can directly kill trees (Amman and Lindgren, 1995), while less severe attack may predispose trees to subsequent invasion by other pests or to reinvasion by subsequent generations (Klepzig et al., 1991). Primary bark beetles, those that attack healthy trees and overcome tree defences by a mass aggregation strategy, successfully establish on host trees through pheromone-mediated mass attacks (Paine et al., 1997). The beetles introduce fungi that help them overcome the tree defences (Aukema et al., 2010). Secondary bark beetles on the other hand attack stressed trees and use ethanol from decaying host trees (Klimetzek et al., 1986) as a kairomone attractant

(Moeck et al., 1981; Gilbert et al., 2001). Healthy trees are attacked by primary bark beetles such as *Dendroctonus ponderosae* Hopkins, *D. frontalis* (Zimmermann) and *Ips typographus* (Linnaeus) which cause tree mortality as a result of mass colonisation (Byers, 1989). Secondary bark beetles (e.g., *I. pini* Say, *Scolytus ventralis* LeConte, *D. simplex* LeConte, and *Tomicus piniperda* (Linnaeus), colonise weakened, stressed, and recently killed trees (Klepzig et al., 1991; Langstrom and Hellqvist, 1993). Bark beetles have significant effects on the decomposition of trees, as plant pathogen vectors and as the initial decomposers of tree debris (Edmonds and Eglitis, 1989). Equally important and not easily measured are the ecological consequences for affected ecosystems. These may include changes in ecosystem structure and interspecies dynamics, and changes in biological diversity, especially if the beetles are invasive species (Neumann, 1987).

Abiotic and biotic stress predisposes forest trees to infestation by insect herbivores and fungal diseases (Wargo and Harrington, 1991; Williams and Liebhold, 1995). In outbreak conditions, mass beetle attack can overwhelm tree defences. Outbreaks often occur after wind damage, fire or drought (Wermelinger, 2004; Aukema et al., 2008; Carnegie, 2008; Ivković et al., 2010; Kausrud et al., 2012; Marini et al., 2012; Simard et al., 2012) and can have significant adverse effects on nutrient cycling, water quality and quantity, carbon sequestration, and biodiversity (Ayres and Lombardero, 2000; Kurz et al., 2008). For example, *Ips grandicollis* (Eichhoff) caused serious damage to P. radiata in South Australia in the 1940s (Morgan and Griffith, 1989) and is currently causing tree mortality in New South Wales, Australia (Carnegie, 2008; Carnegie and Loch, 2010). Nevertheless, outbreaks of scolytine beetels may help regenerate natural forests by killing older trees as well as encouraging the decomposition of dead wood. Following the outbreaks of I. typographus in Germany (Müller et al., 2008), the administration of the Bavarian national park decided against management of the areas affected to allow for forest succession and regeneration (Müller and Job, 2009).

3. Life cycle and symbionts

Scolytine bark beetles generally mate and tunnel within the phloem where they construct galleries and oviposit. The extent of damage due to the beetles' activity depends largely on the numbers attacking as well as favourable climatic and forest conditions coinciding in time and space. A few scolytine species are near-obligate parasites (e.g., *D. micans* (Kugelann) in Europe and *D. terebrans* (Olivier) and *D. valens* LeConte in North America) which rarely kill their host trees. Some non-aggregating species colonise the base of trees that are often weakened by injury or root diseases (Raffa et al., 2005) while some like *D. valens* aggregate almost exclusively at the base of trees (Wood, 1982). The larvae of these beetles are gregarious and feed in large chambers in the inner bark. Scolytines have two feeding strategies, those that feed on the xy-lem (ambrosia beetles; subfamily Scolytinae) and those that feed on the phloem (phloephagous) (Paine et al., 1997).

Xylem feeders introduce an ascomycete fungus, usually an *Ambrosiella* sp., on which they feed. Infestation of trees by the fungi lowers the economic value of wood by causing undesirable colour

(Orbay et al., 1994). Phloem feeders lay eggs, larvae hatch in about a week and feed on the living phloem or inner bark. The latter can attack living trees in large numbers causing tree mortality (Ayres et al., 2000) and are often associated with blue-stain fungi such as *Ceratocystis polonica* (Siem.) C. Moreau, *Ophiostoma polonicum* Robinson-Jeffrey and Davidson, *O. ips* Wingfield (Christiansen and Solheim, 1990; Ghaioule et al., 2007; Adams et al., 2009) among others. Fungi associated with tree-killing bark beetles have been known to overwhelm tree defenses and subsequently cause substantial host tree mortality (Christiansen and Solheim, 1990). However, a recent review by Six and Wingfield (2011), suggests that phytopathogenicity from the fungi may mediate competitive interactions and support beetle survival and efficient resource gain from host trees.

4. Management of bark beetles

Control of scolytine bark beetles is difficult because of their largely cryptic feeding habit and the often extensive nature of forests. Silvicultural practices that minimise bark beetle attack are commonly applied in commercial forestry. They involve thinning, pruning and implementation of short planting cycles as well as precise timing of harvesting operations which are synchronised outside the beetle flight period (Christiansen and Fjone, 1993). Debarking cut timber and destroying infested trees by chipping, burning or burying removes the beetle broods and prevents further attack (Jactel et al., 2009). Clearing wind-thrown timber to reduce breeding material is an important preventive method (Grégoire and Evans, 2004) with varying success, e.g., the method is sometimes ineffective in western North America (Wickman, 1987). Some silvicultural methods involve direct control techniques such as cutand-remove or cut-and-leave. The effectiveness of these methods varies among bark beetle species with differing life cycle and patterns of attack. Tree density can affect the incidence and severity of bark beetle infestations and thinning has been advocated as a preventative measure that reduces bark beetle induced tree mortality (Fettig et al., 2007a). Some studies on the efficacy of thinning have, however, failed to detect significant benefit and some bark beetles are attracted to thinning residues (Cochran, 1998).

Mass trapping of bark beetles by pheromone traps or standing live trap trees is used to reduce population densities to levels below the critical threshold (El-Sayed et al., 2006; Hansen et al., 2006; Schiebe et al., 2011). Studies have shown that traps might provide more effective control of bark beetles (Raty et al., 1995; Faccoli and Stergulc, 2008). Use of traps is important for preventing attack by primary bark beetles as numbers of beetles caught in traps or trap trees may be well used as an identification of specific beetles or flight seasons (Billings, 1988). The trapping technique should have good selectivity and a reduced impact on the natural enemies and should also be ecologically safe. A serious problem with mass trapping, however, is the inadvertent removal of natural enemies that respond to baits as kairomones (Aukema et al., 2000). An integrated beetle management approach is important as numbers of beetles caught in traps at a given place and time is not exclusively decisive for the attack on trees (Faccoli and Stergulc, 2008; Raty et al., 1995; Wermelinger, 2004).

Predators, parasitoids and competitors of bark beetles have potential as biological control agents of scolytine bark beetles. Bark beetle predators and parasitoids have been shown to detect aggregating pheromones of prey beetles (Hayes and Strom, 1994). Classical biocontrol has been attempted for introduced scolytine beetles. For example, a common predator of scolytine bark beetles, *Thanasimus dubius* (F.) (Coleoptera: Cleridae) was introduced against *I. grandicollis* in Australia (Lawson and Morgan, 1992) though establishment of the parasitoids is not yet known. Inundative releases are used against beetles at low intensity outbreaks, e.g., *T. dubius* has been used against several native species of *Dendroctonus* (Miller et al., 1987). Entomopathogenic microorganisms such as bacteria, viruses, fungi, protozoa and nematodes play a major role in population dynamics of forest pests. Bacteria also are potential biocontrol agents against scolytine bark beetles. A study by Sevim et al. (2012) showed that strains of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* Flügge (Pseudomonadales: Pseudomonadaceae) can be modified to express insecticidal toxins and other detrimental substances against *I. sexdentatus* (Boern). Biocontrol agents are strongly r-selected and hence able to disperse in time and space in extensive areas and biological control is hence, generally a desirable approach and theoretically possible to management of scolytine bark beetles. Challenges lie in identifying difficulties in identifying effective agents and constraints to introduction of exotic agents to new locations.

Chemical control is a strategy that has been used to combat both the xylem (Damon, 2000; Pena et al., 2011) and phloem feeding bark beetles (Fettig et al. 2006; Stone and Simpson, 1991; Grosman et al., 2010.) The method employs insecticides which are used to protect high-value trees in recreational grounds (e.g., campgrounds, resorts) or administrative sites from bark beetle attack. Protection of individual trees has previously involved applications of liquid formulations of contact insecticides to the tree bole using hydraulic sprayers (Haverty et al., 1997). Recently, environmentally safe alternatives have examined the effectiveness of injecting small quantities of systemic insecticides directly into trees (Grosman et al., 2010). Some insecticides, e.g., oxdydemeton methyl (Metasystox-R) used for protecting individual trees from attack by several western bark beetle species, but it has been shown to be largely ineffective and is not recommended (Haverty et al., 1997). Lack of efficacy may be attributed to the type of insecticide used, resin flow by the tree may prevent uptake, chemical mobility into or through phloem tissue may be obstructed or the tree could be water stressed. Insecticides may have detrimental effects on natural enemies. Given this, it is thus important to look into the chemical ecology of scolvtines bark beetles and explore the development of semiochemicals as an alternative pest management method.

5. Semiochemicals of scolytine bark beetles

Most insects use semiochemicals to communicate and to interact with their hosts and other species (Norin, 2007). Semiochemicals have been shown to influence various aspects of scolytine bark beetle biology (Borden, 1989). Signals effective intraspecifically (within a single species) are referred to as pheromones. For instance, alarm, sex and food trail pheromones affect behaviour or physiology of individuals within the same species (van Tol et al., 2001). Signals between different species are allelochemicals. Depending on their respective biological function, allelochemicals are classified as allomones (those that benefit the emitter), kairomones (those that benefit the recipient), synomones (those that benefit both the emitter and recipient) or apneumones (those from non-living sources) (Nordlund, 1982). Of course a given semiochemical may function in more than one of these categories depending on the receiving species. Within a given scolytine species, communication is based on pheromones which are made up of single, or more commonly mixtures of compounds. The qualitative and quantitative composition of the pheromones is unique within bark beetle species as they are used for reproduction, isolation and aggregation of conspecifics (van Tol et al., 2001). Most bark beetles also produce acoustic signals that have been implicated in defence, courtship, aggression and species location and recognition (Ryker and Rudinsky, 1976). Despite the ubiquity of acoustic signalling in bark beetles, there is little information available on the characteristics and function of these signals in different species, how these signals are received and transmitted through either the air or wood and potential for their use in pest management. Accordingly, the following sections discuss current knowledge on chemical communication in host selection and colonisation by scolytine bark beetles in forests.

5.1. Host selection and colonisation

The most important determinant of fitness for bark beetles is location of a suitable host (Raffa, 2001). Many scolytine species avoid the costs of having to land to determine host identity and quality by responding to olfactory cues while in flight (Raffa et al., 1993; Byers et al., 1985). Initial host location by some species is mediated by volatiles from host tree semiochemicals (Wallin and Raffa, 2002; Erbilgin et al., 2003). For example, the Douglas-fir beetle, D. pseudotsugae Hopkins is attracted to synthetic blends of Douglas-fir foliage and tree trunk monoterpenes, although D. ponderosae Hopkins is not (Pureswaran and Borden, 2005). Foraging bark beetles perceive their environment through different sensory modes such as olfaction, vision or taste (Moeck et al., 1981; Byers, 1989). Cues used at any particular time vary in both cost of assessment such as events following landing versus flight and, in precision. These factors affect the sensory mode used during host selection (Fawcett and Johnstone, 2003).

Cues such as substrate colour, texture, form and contrast are usually synchronised with olfaction (Prokopy and Owens, 1983; Borden et al., 1986; Campbell and Borden, 2006). Goyer et al. (2004) found that the total number of Ips spp. arriving at Pinus taeda L. pine logs was significantly affected by colour; fewer Ips spp. were caught at logs painted white than those painted a dark colour. Strom et al. (1999) showed that visual and semiochemical treatments, especially used in combination, disrupted host finding by D. frontalis. By using a combination of treatments with the antiaggregation pheromone verbenone, or the repellent host compound 4-allylanisole in addition to the attractant, few D. frontalis were caught in traps. Visual cues may enable precise approach to the tree, enabling beetles to orientate and land on suitable host trees, while semiochemicals enable the beetles to colonise the host. Recent evidence shows that other cues enable beetles to accept host trees. Walter et al. (2010) showed that host acceptance by Orthotomicus erosus (Wollaston) (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) is determined by both gustatory and non-gustatory cues rather than bark and phloem volatiles.

Bark beetle pheromones in combination with kairomones (host derived volatiles) enable the insects to coordinate attack on specific host trees (Byers, 1989; Seybold et al., 2000). For example, alpha-pinene together with frontalin (a pheromone of bark beetles) arrests beetle flight orientating them to trees (Adams et al., 2011). Pine monoterpenes occurring in the oleoresin, a mixture of oil and resin found in pine, function as behaviourally active kairomones for bark beetles. Some monoterpenes are essential co-attractants for pine bark beetle aggregation pheromones (Table 1). Monoterpenes can, however, be physiologically toxic to bark beetles at high vapour concentrations and are considered an important component of tree defence process (Seybold et al., 2006).

5.2. Aggregation

Aggregation pheromones are usually released after feeding and the production of faecal material by pioneer beetles (Vité et al., 1972). Once the first individuals of the pioneer sex (males of *Ips* and *Pityogenes* or females of *Dendroctonus* and *Tomicus*) arrive at the tree, they begin boring into the bark (Byers, 1989; Byers, 1992) hence producing a feeding stimulant. In the genus *Dendroctonus*, the pioneer females make a hole through the bark and release a pheromone to which both males and females respond. The responding females land and initiate new attacks. In contrast, *Ips* spp. are polygamous. The males make the initial attack, initiate boring and release the pheromone which attracts several females. Feeding stimulants, such as frass, trigger the boring process (Wood, 1982). Studies using an artificial diet for *I. paracon-fusus* Lanier (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) showed that sucrose together with host phloem particles stimulated boring more strongly than did sucrose alone (Hynum and Berryman, 1980). Ethanol has also been shown to act as a boring stimulant (Moeck et al., 1981).

Several semiochemicals are involved in aggregation and these differ between species (Table 1). In Ips spp., the aggregation pheromone is a synergistic blend of three components, ipsenol, Ipsdienol and verbenone (Silverstein, 1979) (Table 1). Ipsenol and Ipsdienol are released by males and increase in a logarithmic relationship with host tree monoterpene. Myrcene, a host volatile that has been found to be synergistic when presented with the aggregation pheromone components of some conifer-infesting bark beetles, accumulates when Ips spp. males are exposed to vapours of the tree volatiles (Byers and Wood, 1981). Myrcene is converted to the pheromone components Ipsdienol and ipsenol in most Ips species except I. amitinus (Eichhoff) which converts myrcene to amitinol (Byers and Birgersson, 1990) (Table 1). Ips spp. males acquire alpha-pinene from vapour absorbed while in the galleries and also from ingested phloem and then convert it to verbenone (Klimetzek and Francke, 1980) depending on the population of beetles at breeding sites. Verbenone is known to play a role in reducing intraspecific competition at breeding areas (Allison et al., 2012) and can deter additional adults from entering the host tree when fully occupied. Verbenone is produced by the beetles themselves (Byers et al., 1984), by auto-oxidation of the host monoterpenes, alpha-pinene via the intermediary compounds cis- and trans-verbenol (Hunt et al., 1989; Hunt and Borden, 1990) and most probably through degradation of host material by associated microorganisms (Leufvén et al., 1984). Verbenone can also be attractive to some species e.g., D. frontalis and D. brevicomis LeConte, at low concentrations (Byers et al., 1984). Some beetle species have evolved to recognise verbenone as an indication of unsuitable host material and produce verbenone as a by-product of gallery feeding (Raffa et al., 2008).

Attraction to trees by scolytine bark beetles stops when the galleries are congested and presence of verbenone acts as a deterrent, functioning as a species-specific indicator to beetles attempting to colonise already occupied hosts (Huber and Borden, 2001; Etxebeste and Pajares, 2011). Some species have evolved mechanisms that help them avoid host material occupied by different species producing verbenone. The anti-aggregation behaviour is controlled by pheromones (Table 1) and verbenone has been trialled as an inhibitor in management of scolytines. Studies on bark beetle caught in traps baited with attractant pheromone showed that beetle arrival increased with pheromone concentration up to a point, then declined (Birch, 1978). An increase of certain male pheromones facilitates termination of aggregation, spacing and short range dispersal to new trees (Table 1), thus as production of the local anti-aggregation pheromone increases, attacks shift to adjacent host trees. As a result of this semiochemical-mediated behaviour, trees are often killed in groups rather than in isolation (Hovorka et al., 2005). In D. ponderosae, dispersal occurs in response to high concentrations of the pheromones exo-brevicomin and frontalin (Borden et al., 1986). Males of D. frontalis produce (–)-*endo*-brevicomin that interrupts the responses of aggregating beetles to the female-produced pheromone (Sullivan et al., 2007). Verbenone, produced by both sexes of Dendroctonus (Borden et al., 1986; Borden et al., 2006; Etxebeste and Pajares, 2011), has an inhibitory or interruptive effect on most scolytine bark beetle species (Wood, 1982). Dendroctonus pseudotsugae

 Table 1

 Semiochemicals involved at different stages of attack by scolytine bark beetles.

Semiochemical notes.	Emitter	Recipient	Stage of attack	Function	Species	References
Pheromones						
(-)-endo-brevicomin (Synthesized by males in small quantities).	Males	Females	Post- landing	Acts as a population regulator. It also enhances the attractiveness of frontalin and host plant volatiles when released in low concentrations by males during mass attack. It interrupts the response of aggregating beetles to frontalin.	D. frontalis	Sullivan et al. (2007), Payne et al. (1988)
(+)-Sulcatol	Males	Females	Aggregation	Causes aggregation.	Gnathotrichus sulcatus (LeConte) I. sexdentatus	Francke et al. (1995)
4,6,6-Lineatin	Female	Males	Aggregation	Causes aggregation	Trypodendron lineatum(Olivier)	Francke et al. (1995)
Exo-brevicomin	Males	Females	Post- landing	Acts as a population regulator and enhances attractiveness of females when released in low concentrations.	D. terebrans	Borden et al. (1986)
					D. ponderosae D. brevicomis	
Frontalin (found in the hindguts of newly emerged females)	Female	Con- specific beetles of both sexes	Aggregation	Dual role: as sex and aggregation pheromone to both sexes. It also causes close-range communication, bringing individual beetles together in sufficient numbers to overcome host tree defenses. Its produced in frass and also when females land on a tree and determined the tree to be a suitable host. It also helps to reduce rivalry fighting and competition with other males	D. frontalis	Coster and Vité (1972), McCarty et al. (1980),and Payne et al. (1988)
Ipsdienol	Male	Both sexes	Aggregation	Attracts females to mate and both sexes to aggregate. Performs in a blend together with plant volatiles.	D. rufipennis D. brevicomis D. pseudotsugae D. terebrans Ips calligraphus (Germar) Ips pini Ips duplicatus	Vité et al. (1972), Byers and Birgersson (1990 and Allison et al. (2012)
Ipsenol	Male	Both sexes	Aggregation	Attracts females to mate and both sexes to aggregate. Performs in a blend together with plant volatiles.	(Sahlberg) Ips avulses Ips paraconfusus (Lanier) Ips grandicollis Ips perturbatus Ips grandicollis	Vité and Renwick (1971), Vité et al. (1972)
		SEXES		blend together with plant volatiles.	Ips paraconfusus	
Trans-verbenol (results from the oxidation of alpha-pinene after beetles feed on phloem material or are exposed to vapours while in the host)	Hindgut of newly emerged female	Both sexes	Initial attack and landing	Produced outside the beetle by autoxidation of alpha-pinene upon exposure to air. Metabolised internally from alpha-pinene by bacteria in the beetle gut and externally by other microbial activity. As with alpha-pinene, <i>trans</i> -verbenol alone is unattractive to walking and flying beetles.	Ips duplicatus D. pseudotsugae	Payne et al. (1978), Hunt and Borden (1990 Pureswaran and Borden (2004)
Verbenone	Males and females	Both males and females	Post- landing, anti- aggregation	Regulates local beetle densities. Derived from alpha-pinene upon the oxidation of <i>trans</i> -verbenol. It is also produced outside the beetle by autoxidation of <i>trans</i> -verbenol in presence of air and by symbiotic fungi introduced into the host tree by bark beetles. It is the primary anti-aggregation pheromone of some bark beetle species.	D. ponderosae D. frontalis	Leufvén et al. (1984), Payne et al. (1988), Borden (1989), Hunt and Borden (1990), Huber and Borden (2001), Borden et al. (2003), and Borden et al. (2006)
					D. brevicomis D. ponderosae I. typographus	

Table 1 (continued)						
Semiochemical notes.	Emitter	Recipient	Stage of attack	Function	Species	References
- - - -						
Tree-derived kairomones						
Alpha-pinene (A monoterpene and major	Phloem	Both	Initial	Functions as a kairomone arrestant in combination with frontalin,	Produced by	Renwick and Vité (1969), Byers et al. (1985),
component of resin)	tissues of host trees	sexes	attack	a pheromone that draws beetles to the tree. It causes arrestment of walking beetles on the trees.	most conifer species.	Payne et al. (1978), and Hofstetter et al. (2008)
n-Cvmene	Host trees	Both	Attraction	Fuhances attractiveness to host trees	Produced by	Andersson et al (2009)
		sexes			deciduous and	
					coniter species	
Ethanol	Host trees	Both	Attraction	Secondary bark beetles are attracted to ethanol released from	Produced by	Byers et al. (1985), Raffa et al. (2005), and
		sexes		stressed or decaying wood as a result of microbial activity.	stressed and	Byers (1992)
					decaying wood	
					tissue	
Myrcene	Host trees	Both	Attraction	Primary attraction to host trees and also enhances bark beetles'	Produced by	Byers (1992) and Hofstetter et al. (2008)
		sexes		response to aggregation pheromone	most conifer	
					species	
B-pinene	Host trees	Both	Attraction	Primary attraction to host trees and also enhances bark beetles'	Produced by	Byers (1992)
		sexes		response to aggregation pheromone	most conifer	
					species	
(+)-3-carene	Host trees	Both	Attraction	Primary attraction to host trees and also enhances bark beetles'	Produced by	Byers (1992)and Erbilgin and Raffa (2000)
		sexes		response to aggregation pheromone	most conifer	
					species	
Terpinolene	Host trees	Both	Attraction	Primary attraction to host trees and also enhances bark beetles'	Produced by	Byers et al. (1985) and Byers (1992)
		sexes		response to aggregation pheromone	most conifer	
					species	

C.W. Gitau et al. / Forest Ecology and Management 297 (2013) 1-14

5.3. Semiochemicals and management of scolytine bark beetles in forest ecosystems

Semiochemicals are important in monitoring pest populations to determine when and where control is warranted and for decision making that would lead to appropriate management intervention (Norin, 2007). For practical detection purposes, pheromone traps have been extensively used for monitoring and management of bark beetles because of their easy handling. specificity and sensitivity. Successful cases in the use of synthetic semiochemicals are, however, rare (Hayes et al., 2009). Aggregation pheromones have been developed as high release lures for specific species. Verbenone has been used to protect the lodgepole pine, Pinus contorta var. latifolia Engelm, from attack by D. ponderosae and D. valens (Borden, 1997; Rappaport et al., 2001). Green leaf volatiles together with verbenone have been shown to interrupt responses to aggregation pheromones of bark beetles which infest pines in the United States such as D. frontalis, Ips avulses (Eichhoff) and I. grandicollis (Zhang and Schlyter, 2004), D. brevicomis and D. valens (Fettig et al., 2008) and D. ponderosae (Huber and Borden, 2001).

Models have been developed for predicting tree losses based on trap catches of I. typographus (Faccoli and Stergulc, 2004, 2006) in Italy and D. rufipennis Kirby (Hansen et al., 2006) and D. frontalis in the USA (Billings 1988). The use of baited traps is common during the early spring dispersal phase to give an estimate of population density. This use of semiochemicals has proven useful in scolytine management as monitoring during this critical phase of the pest's seasonal activity leaves time for planning and applying management over the summer and can avoid the material and labour costs associated with a longer-running monitoring period. Furthermore, semiochemical-baited traps have considerable potential for the detection and monitoring of scolytines, particularly at sea ports and other potential points of entry. The detection of exotic bark beetles is one of the major functions of quarantine detection programs (McMaugh, 2005), because the global planting of a small number of softwood species has provided an almost unlimited source of host material for many of the primary bark beetle species outside the natural range of their natural enemies (Humble, 1999). Large-scale trapping programs for the detection of species such as I. typographus and D. ponderosae are in place at most of the major trading ports in the world, for example in China (Lui and Dai, 2006), Australia (Bashford, 2012) and USA (Haack, 2006).

Several additional techniques that employ semiochemicals have been used against bark beetles of forest trees. "Push-pull" has been adopted as a direct control strategy (Gillette and Munson, 2009) where the "push" part involves a known antiaggregation pheromone (e.g., lures of verbenone for *D. ponderosae*) (Borden et al., 2006), and the "pull" part involves intercept panel traps, baited with beetle pheromone such as *ipsenol*, *ips*dienol or host volatiles such as alpha-pinene, placed near trees of interest or treatment plots. Push-pull components using aggregants and antiaggregants from the same species can significantly reduce numbers of beetles caught in traps, e.g., in protection of lodgepole and whitebark pine from *D. ponderosae* in Washington, USA (Gillette et al., 2012). Herbicide-treated trees can also be used as a "pull" and a non-host volatile used as a disruptant or interruptant (Dodds and Miller, 2010). In the latter case, multiple types of negative stimuli such as green leaf volatiles from non-host plants and verbenone are used to create chemical stimuli that indicate that conspecifics have mass attacked an unsuitable and potentially lethal non-host habitat or tree (Lindgren and Borden, 1993), sending a strong message that deters bark beetles.

There are, however, unsuccessful attempt and obstacles to verbenone being a solution to management of these pests (Fettig et al., 2009b; Shea et al., 1992), most notably ineffectiveness at the stand scale for several conifer species (Bentz et al., 1989; Strom et al., 2004) and breakdown to the inactive compound chrysanthenone when subjected to ultraviolet radiation (Francke et al., 1995). A study by Fettig et al. (2009a) revealed that using verbenone alone did not protect Ponderosa pine stands from D. brevicomis and the authors suggested that verbenone is best utilised in combination with other semiochemicals and at high doses. Lack of efficacy was attributed to low levels of inhibition so larger numbers of release pouches are required to achieve maximum protection at the stand level. The same study suggested that low stand densities and elevated temperatures may result in unstable layers and multidirectional traces that dilute synthetic verbenone plumes in forest stands (Fettig et al., 2009b). On the other hand, verbenone can enhance the activity of biocontrol agents. A study by Fettig et al. (2007b) showed that Temnochila chlorodia (Mannerheim) (Coleoptera: Trogositidae), a common bark beetle predator, is attracted to high release rates of verbenone which points to potential utility for optimising biological control of the north American bark beetle D. valens.

In the 'lure-and-kill' strategy, beetles are attracted to a killing agent, which eliminates them from the population (El-Sayed et al., 2009). Mass trapping uses species-specific synthetic chemical lures to attract insects to a trap. Sex attractant, food or aggregation pheromones are used to lure beetles to traps where they are confined and eventually die (Byers, 1989; El-Sayed et al., 2006). Trap trees that are treated with a herbicide may also act as "traps" for bark beetles. They are eventually burnt (Bakke, 1983, 1989) to kill all life stages under the bark (Werner et al., 1986). The continued development and use of suitable semiochemicals, with low nontarget impact in urban and forest monitoring systems has provided a tool to determine the arrival of exotic insect pests, providing an early warning system enabling managers to take steps for eradication or containment (Bashford, 2003). Development of commercial, generic and specific semiochemicals has made the use of lures a viable option for monitoring programs. By using generic 'bark beetle' lures or combinations of different compatible lures per trap a large number of species can be detected. Once detected and identified, catch data for that species can be utilised to determine changes in relative abundance and distribution (Schwalbe and Mastro, 1988).

As scolytines aggregate in large numbers, trap catches may reach biologically significant levels, making mass-trapping with synthetic attractants a viable pest management tactic (El-Sayed et al., 2006). Semiochemicals may be used to monitor scolytine population flights to schedule movement of high risk or high value logs so as to minimize potential losses. Harvested logs that may be infested have potential to spread beetles outside their native range resulting in economic and ecological risks. Semiochemicals that inhibit oviposition might also be used to protect high value logs for short periods of time. Verbenone and *trans*-conophthorin have been shown to be effective for inhibiting *I. perturbatus* (Eichhoff) attacks on live trees in Alaska (Graves et al. 2008) and on decked, unscored logs by reducing host colonisation during localised outbreaks (Fettig et al., 2013).

5.4. Use of volatiles from non-hosts in the management of bark beetles

The use of non-host volatiles provides another non-insecticidal opportunity for protection of forest trees (Table 2). Volatile green

leaf alcohols and aldehydes are ubiquitous among numerous plant species and many insects use these chemicals to find specific tree hosts (Zhang, 2003). Though monoterpenes are commonly known as volatiles of conifer bark and foliage and are used in host selection by bark beetles, they are also common in the tissues of non-host angiosperm trees (Byers, 2000; Huber et al., 2000). Green leaf volatiles, especially alcohols with six carbon atom chains, derived from leaves and sometimes from the bark of non-host angiosperm trees, may represent non-host odour signals at the habitat level. Specific bark volatiles such as trans-conophthorin (E)-7-methyl-1,6-dioxaspiro[4.5]decane), leaf alcohols with eight carbon atom chains and some aromatic compounds, may indicate non-hosts at the tree species level (Zhang and Schlyter, 2004). Several studies have yielded promising results for the management of some bark beetle species (Table 2) where a blend of non-host volatiles has been capable of reducing attraction of beetles to lured traps and logs.

Non-host volatiles have been shown to interrupt attraction of bark beetles, especially when used alone or in a blend together with verbenone (Campbell and Borden, 2006; Dodds and Miller, 2010; Etxebeste and Pajares, 2011) (Table 2). Studies by Wilson et al. (1996) showed that a combination of two non-host angiosperm volatiles, (E)-2-hexen-1-ol and (Z)-3-hexen-1-ol, significantly reduced attack of D. ponderosae on pheromone-baited lodgepole pine in British Columbia. Fettig et al. (2008) showed that applications of verbenone with a blend of non-host volatiles protected ponderosa pines from attack by D. brevicomis and D. valens. Etxebeste and Pajares (2011) recently showed that efficiency of verbenone in repelling bark beetles from trees is enhanced when blended with trans-conophthorin. Presently, the most promising use of non-host volatiles together with mass trapping in the management of bark beetles has been for I. typographus in natural reserves, forest camping grounds and urban forests where it is more acceptable than insecticide use. This method reduces the numbers of dispersing beetles as they are captured by pheromone trap barriers giving the trees a chance to defend themselves against subsequent attacks. Protecting forest trees from attack by bark beetles by application of non-host volatiles is still too expensive for use in commercial forests, but could be viable for high-value (e.g., nature conservation reserves). Use of non-host volatiles may be viable for the protection of small areas of "trap trees" such as those used for introducing biological control agents such as the nematode agents for Sirex noctilio (F.) (Bedding, 2009).

In mixed forests, bark beetles will encounter unsuitable hosts and non-host trees as well as their odours. The decision to occupy unsuitable trees may be based on disparities of certain tree characteristics and inhibitory responses to some non-host stimuli or volatiles (Shepherd et al., 2007). This is be supported by the semiochemical diversity hypothesis, which states that mixed habitats with high plant biodiversity are more stable due to the abundance of non-host volatiles which interferes with host-selection by specialised herbivores (Zhang and Schlyter, 2004). In these mixed habitats, non-host volatiles may negatively influence host selection enabling natural protection of forest trees. This could be due to the richer plant communities releasing more diverse plant odours that may disrupt olfactory-guided host choice. Some beetles also use defensive compounds that are emitted by trees to avoid predation (Byers et al., 2004).

6. Role of semiochemicals in integrated management of scolytine bark beetles

Silvicultural practices promote individual tree and stand resistance, protect stand sites and minimises bark beetle and disease incidence as well as competition. The practice may involve intensive forest management such as thinning, pruning and short

Table 2

Volatiles from non-host tree families that have been shown to reduce attack on trees by scolytine bark beetles.

Volatile compound	Family of non-host species	Scolytine bark beetle controlled or tested	Effect	References
(E)-(±)-conophthorin)	Betulaceae	D. brevicomis	Combined with verbenone, the non-host angiosperm volatile protects trees from attacks by bark beetles. The compound alone does not reduce numbers of <i>I. pini</i> or <i>I.</i> <i>grandicollis</i> arriving on trap trees.	Graves et al. (2008), Dodds and Miller (2010), Dallara et al. (2000), López et al. (2012), Fettig et al. (2012)
		I. perturbatus I. pini		
(E)-2-hexenal	Betulaceae	I. grandicollis Ambrosia beetles	Active as a non-host volatile in inhibiting attack by some ambrosia beetles	Borden (1997), Deglow and Borden (1998), Poland et al (1998), and Fettig et al. (2012)
	Salicaceae	D. brevicomis D. rufipennis		(2012)
(Z)-3-hexen-1-ol	Common green leaf volatile of	Dendroctonus spp.	Disrupts beetle response to aggregation pheromones in baited traps.	Borden et al. (1998), Zhang et al., 2000, Pureswaran an Borden (2004), and Fettig et al., 2012)
	Betulaceae	I. pini I. typographus		
(E)-2-hexen-1-ol	Betulaceae	D. brevicomis	Inhibits attack on trees by beetles	Poland et al. (1998), Fettig et al. (2012)
(Z)-2-hexen-1-ol	Betulaceae	D. rufipennis D. brevicomis	Inhibits attack on trees by beetles	Poland et al. (1998), and
		D. rufipennis		Fettig et al. (2012)
(Z)-3-hexenyl acetate	Betulaceae	I. typographus	Disrupts <i>D. ponderosae</i> , response to aggregation pheromones.	Wilson et al. (1996), Border et al. (1998), and Zhang et a (2000)
1 Hevenel	Salicaceae	D. ponderosae	A secollect see best velstils is verieve best	
1-Hexanol	Common green leaf volatile of Salicaceae	Various Dendroctonus spp.	A repellent non-host volatile in various bark beetles. Also interrupts pheromonal communication in bark beetles.	Dickens et al. (1992), Borde et al. (1998), Huber and Borden (2003)
Hexanal	Many Angiosperms	D. brevicomis	Reduced attraction of the bark beetles to attractant-baited traps.	Dickens et al. (1992) and Poland et al. (1998)
		D. rufipennis I. grandicollis I. avulses		
1-Octen-3-ol	Betulaceae	Dendroctonus spp.	A non-host volatile tested with success against bark beetles in genus <i>Dendroctonus</i> and <i>Ips</i> .	Zhang et al. (2000), and Pureswaran and Borden (2004)
		Ips pini I. typographus		
3-Carene	Betulaceae	P. bidentatus	Present in volatiles of numerous conifers.	Zhang et al. (1999) and Huber et al. (2000)
3-Octanol	Betulaceae	Dendroctonus spp.	A non-host volatile tested with success against bark beetles in genus <i>Dendroctonus</i> and <i>Ips</i> .	Zhang et al. (2000) and Pureswaran and Borden (2004)
		Ips pini I. typographus		
4-Allylanisole	Cycadaceae	D. rufipennis	Significantly reduced catches of beetles on traps.	Hayes and Strom (1994), Werner (1995), Faccoli and Stergulc (2004), and Snyder and Bower (2005)
		D. ponderosae		and 200001 (2000)
		I. pini I. typographus		
Acetophenone	Pinaceae	D. pseudotsugae	Anti-attractants. The compound significantly decreased catches of beetles in aggregation pheromone-baited traps.	Pureswaran and Borden (2004), Erbilgin et al. (2007 and Fettig et al. (2012)
		D. ponderosae D. rufipennis		
Alpha-pinene	Present in volatiles of numerous conifers such	D. brevicomis Ambrosia beetles (Scolytinae)	Common attractant host kairomone for coniferophagous bark beetles.	Schroeder and Lindelow (1989), and Huber et al.
Benzaldehyde	as Betulaceae, Salicaceae Salicaceae	D. ponderosae	Disruptive to aggregation of D. ponderosae.	(2000) Borden et al. (1998)
Benzyl alcohol Beta-pinene	Salicaceae Betulaceae	D. ponderosae P. bidentatus	Disruptive to aggregation of <i>D. ponderosae</i> . Present in volatiles of numerous conifers	Borden et al. (1998) Zhang et al. (1999), and
		(Herbst)		Huber et al. (2000)
Blend of a-zingiberene and a- santalene,	Betulaceae	I. typographus	Volatiles found in bark chips of birches which are long-range olfactory cues for beetles causing them to discriminate between its conifer host and non-hosts.	Zhang et al. (2000)

Table 2 (continued)

Volatile compound	Family of non-host species	Scolytine bark beetle controlled or tested	Effect	References
	Salicaceae			
Fenchyl alcohol	Pinaceae	D. brevicomis	Compound reduced trap catches of beetles in aggregation pheromone-baited traps.	Erbilgin et al. (2007)
Nonanal	Volatile chemicals that are associated with foliage and/or bark of angiosperm trees	D. frontalis	Significantly inhibited response of male <i>D.</i> <i>frontalis</i> beetles when used as a blend with benzaldehyde.	Sullivan et al. (2007)
Trans-conophthorin	Betulaceae	Pityophthorus pubescens (Marsham)	A non-host volatile commonly found on bark chips of birches that reduces catches of <i>lps</i> spp.	Zhang and Schlyter (2004), Etxebeste and Pajares (2011), López et al. (2012)
	Salicaceae	I. sexdentatus		
β-Pinene	Present in volatiles of numerous conifers such as Betulaceae, Salicaceae	D. ponderosae	Common attractant host kairomone for coniferophagous bark beetles.	Huber et al. (2000)
		D. pseudotsugae D. rufipennis Dryocoetes confusus (Swaine) I. pini		
Verbenone Plus (a four-component semiochemical blend)	Blend composed of acetophenone, (E)-2- hexen-1-ol + (Z)-2- hexen-1-ol, and (–)- verbenone]	D. brevicomis	Verbenone Plus significantly reduce the proportion of trees mass attacked by <i>D. brevicomis</i>	Fettig et al. (2012)

rotation cycles and has traditionally been considered a method of control for bark beetles (Christiansen and Fjone, 1993; Wermelinger, 2004). This kind of forest hygiene also decreases the risk of outbreaks especially in situations where trees are deliberately weakened, e.g., trap tree plots, and thus could be predisposed to beetle attack. Thistle et al. (2004) showed that bark beetle pheromone plumes remained concentrated and directional in high density stands while low density stands resulted in unstable layers and multi-directional traces of diluted pheromone concentrations. This can, in part, result in reduced attack on trees in well managed density stands, which emphasises the natural role of semiochemical communication in forests.

On the other hand, intensive management may actually give opportunities for pest populations to increase (Schowalter and Filip, 1993). Regularly managed and thinned stands are relatively open and have a more favourable microclimate for certain primary scolytines such as I. typographus (Väisänen et al., 1993). Managed stands, which typically have only one age class of one tree species, tend to favour scolytine species as they contain a less varied spectrum of host species than stands in natural condition (Martikainen et al., 1999; Jactel et al., 2009). Managed forests can also be more favourable to certain bark beetle species as there are minimal interactions and interferences between allomonal effects of semiochemicals released by attacking beetles. Mixed forests on the other hand have greater semiochemical diversity than pure host stands as non-host angiosperms would disturb olfaction-guided host selection and hence reduce the likelihood of outbreaks of coniferinfesting bark beetles (Huber and Borden, 2001; Zhang et al., 2001). Schowalter and Turchin (1993) showed that a mixed stand of deciduous species may decrease the spread of D. frontalis while homogenous stands experience outbreaks of forest insect pests more often than heterogeneous stands (Jactel et al., 2002). Research is required to explore whether such effects could be practicable in pine forests. In the context of pest management, a diverse array of chemical cues and signals may disrupt bark beetles searching more than high doses of a single semiochemical (e.g., verbenone) or even mixtures of semiochemicals intended to mimic one type of signal (e.g., anti-aggregation pheromones), because

they represent heterogeneous stand conditions to searching insects.

7. Interactions between scolytines and associated species

Interactions between scolytine bark beetles, other pest species, their host trees and associated microorganisms form an intricate system in forest ecosystems. For instance, the arthropod complex associated with I. typographus includes about 140 species (Weslien, 1992). As mentioned previously, bark beetles can colonise living conifers when attacking in large numbers. As the beetles are frequently associated with fungi that are carried in specialised structures or on their body surfaces (Paine et al., 1997), the spores are actively or passively introduced into trees. The association between micro-organisms and beetles is complex as the former may compete for the same substrates (Slippers et al., 2012). Micro-organisms such as fungi clearly benefit from the association with bark beetles by transportation to new host trees but, less obviously, the beetles may benefit by feeding on the fungi (and associates) after it has colonised wood. The microbes may also affect tree physiology through mycelial penetration of host tissue or toxin release (Weslien and Martin Schroeder, 1999) to the beetles' advantage. Stress to trees caused by physical wounding, introduced chemicals or pathogens and insects attacking trees and the strategy of attack strongly influence volatile emissions from hosts (Parè and Tumlinson, 1996). Differences between systems and how tree species respond and interact in different environmental conditions make it difficult to generalise about the importance of the separate biological components in successful communications and host colonisation in forest ecosystems. This leads to predicaments when deciding upon a management strategy as is illustrated in the following case study.

7.1. Case study of I. grandicollis and the Sirex wood wasp in Australia

In Australia, softwood plantation covers 1.02 million hectares (Garvan and Parsons, 2011). *Sirex noctilio* F. (Hymenoptera: Siricidae) is a major pest that attacks pine species throughout the

northern and southern hemispheres (Slippers et al., 2012). During oviposition, female adults deposit a phytotoxic mucus as well as a wood-decaying fungus Amylostereum areolatum (Chaillet ex Fr.) Boidin (Coutts, 1969a; Coutts, 1969b,c). The main injury to trees attacked by S. noctilio is from the symbiotic fungus which is injected by the female wasp within the oviposition puncture. The hyphae attack the living tissue of the wood and the portion of the tree above the puncture dies due to cut of water supply within the tree. The fungus causes a white rot on the wood and causes the wood to decay rapidly (Slippers et al., 2012). Trees attacked by the wasps subsequently die due to a combination of toxicity of the mucus and wood rot by the fungus (Coutts, 1969b,c). Several major outbreaks of S. noctilio have occurred in Australia since it established six decades ago, including one in the late 1980s where over five million trees were killed (Haugen and Underwood, 1990). Sporadic outbreaks have occurred since (Carnegie and Bashford, 2012).

Mating of *S. noctilio* is facilitated by a sex pheromone that is released from the cuticle of females (Böröczky et al., 2009). The pheromone induces males to copulate and also facilitates the formation of male swarms which females fly through to mate. Strong antennal responses are elicited by the components of the synthetic pheromones, but, Böröczky et al. (2009) showed that host-derived compounds are also perceived by the male antenna. These plant odours play a role in the attraction of wasps to pine plantations. Migrating S. noctilio adults are attracted to alpha-pinene volatiles emitted from stressed trees in a Pinus spp. plantation. Studies have shown that beta-pinene, a host derived compound, plays a major role in attracting S. noctilio females into a plantation and then alpha-pinene leads the wasps to a specific tree (Simpson, 1976; Simpson and McQuilkin, 1976). Simpson and McQuilkin (1976) showed that volatiles emanating from P. radiata show minor changes after felling. However, attractiveness of the wood wasp to the felled timber declines markedly over the first three weeks.

A long-established, successful biocontrol program that uses the nematode *Beddingia* (*=Deladenus*) *siricidicola* Bedding (Sphaerulariidae) has been widely used in the management of *S. noctilio* (Bedding, 2009). In this technique, a group of approximately 10 'trap' trees are trunk-injected with herbicide to stress them so that they become attractive to *S. noctilio* for oviposition (Carnegie and Bashford, 2012). At the completion of *S. noctilio* flight season, the trees are felled and inoculated with nematodes. The nematodes then breed within the logs, infest *Sirex* larvae and migrate to the ovaries of developing females, thus making them sterile (Bedding, 2009). The female wasp emerges and deposits nematodes in the next tree, reducing *Sirex* numbers in subsequent generations.

Trap trees release volatiles that are not only attractive to the wasp, but also to *I. grandicollis*. This effect is feared to threaten the biocontrol program because the beetles hasten tree death, so reducing the period over which they are attractive to S. noctilio females (Carnegie, 2008). Gitau (unpublished data) found that trap trees that were attacked by I. grandicollis are not attractive to S. noctilio. Ips grandicolis has been present in Australia for over seven decades and has been associated with significant mortality of trees in commercial plantations of P. radiata. Studies in some regions of Australia have revealed an increase in Ips-related tree mortality (Carnegie, 2008) and beetle attack on trap trees, with coincident decrease in S. noctilio parasitism (Carnegie and Loch, 2010). Semiochemicals released by beetles may act in an allomonal manner to deter attack by competing species (Borden, 1989). For bark beetle management, allomonal inhibition and competition (*i.e.*, presence of aggregation pheromone of one species reduces aggregation in another) can be risky in terms of trading one potential source of tree mortality for another (Paine and Hanlon, 1991).

The magnitude and mechanisms of *I. grandicollis* and its associates in disrupting the development of *S. noctilio* in trees and interference with the infectivity of the wasp's larvae by the *B. siricidicola*

is yet to be elucidated. Carnegie and Loch (2010) trialled a "pushpull" strategy with verbenone as the "push" and trap trees as the "pull". They found that verbenone was not effective in inhibiting *I. grandicollis* attacks on trap trees. As the chemical ecology of both species becomes better understood, semiochemicals of both pine pests could have utility not only on trap trees, but in open forests. Use of disruptants or interruptants to protect wood wasp trap trees might include blends that keep the wasp attracted but push the bark beetles away. Since the semiochemicals produced by *S. noctilio* and *I. grandicollis* are very different,, there is scope to develop a selective semiochemical management strategy based on a compound which is repellent to the bark beetle but inactive against (or even attractive to) *S. noctilio*.

8. Conclusions and priorities for future research

This review highlights the need to consider responses of bark beetles and their associates, as well as other pests, to ecologically relevant cues of both hosts and non-hosts in multiple sensory modes when evaluating appropriate management strategies for scolytine bark beetles. Presently, semiochemicals are mainly used in forest protection for monitoring pest species to determine presence and the optimal time for applying treatments. "Lure" and "kill" has not been successfully exploited for scolytine bark beetles. The "push" and "pull" strategy has been used against bark beetles of the genera Dendroctonus (Borden et al., 2006; Gillette and Munson, 2009) where the anti-aggregation pheromone verbenone, green leaf volatiles and a non-host volatile blend are utilised. Trials have, however, yielded mixed results in different scolytine beetles which impede the exploitation of this strategy in management of conifer scolytine pests. Since phytophagous insects benefit both by identifying and avoiding non-hosts, as well as orienting to suitable hosts, further studies would involve establishing how sensory integration operates during each process, especially when bark beetles are associated with other organisms such as fungi, bacteria and nematodes as well as other pests. Furthermore, integration and synergism between modes of stimuli would best use factorial designs that allow comparisons among all combination of stimuli such that detection of synergistic interactions among volatiles of hosts, bark beetles and their associates is recognised.

Stands are managed by ensuring that freshly cut logs are kept away from trees that remain on thinned sites to prevent further infestations while for individual trees already showing signs of infestation, direct control methods involve removal of infested trees and use of insecticides. Research on scolytine bark beetles is not fully explored because their attack on trees although ecologically critical, does not always result in serious economic loss. Experimental work with scolytines is also challenging because in many cases the behaviour elicited by semiochemicals is complex and obtaining sufficient live insects for exhaustive laboratory experiments can be difficult. It is clear that beetle life history and behaviour are intricately mediated by semiochemicals and much more needs to be learned before the full scope for the use of these chemicals in pest management is realised. Tree resistance to successful bark beetle attack has been studied in Europe for several Pinus species but this has not been included in tree breeding programs since most provenance work has shown that tree resistance to insect attack correlates with poor wood quality and growth rates (Lieutier, 2002). Host resistance factors include increased production of phenolics at attack sites, increased resin flow and oleoresin pressure at time of increased tree stress, increased bark thickness, high levels of calcium oxalate crystals in the phloem, and resin blisters (Hudgins et al., 2003). Most of these factors are partially genetically dependent (Nebeker et al., 1992). Scolytine bark beetles counter these defences by utilising strategies such as mass aggregation, gallery orientation, timing of attack and associations with phytopathogenic fungi. Research to determine weak links in some of these aspects for specific pest species is needed in order to reduce economic losses specifically where the host is being grown off-site or as an introduced plantation species.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge support by the Australian Research Council (ARC) and National Sirex Coordination Committee (NSCC). We would like to thank Drs. Robin Bedding and Fritz Schulthess for critiquing earlier drafts of this review. Catherine Gulliver assisted with manuscript preparation. We highly acknowledge valuable comments from an anonymous reviewer who helped improve this manuscript considerably.

References

- Adams, A.S., Currie, C.R., Cardoza, Y., Klepzig, K.D., Raffa, K.F., 2009. Effects of symbiotic bacteria and tree chemistry on the growth and reproduction of bark beetle fungal symbionts. Can. J. For. Res. 39, 1133–1147.
- Adams, A.S., Boone, C.K., Bohlmann, J., Raffa, K.F., 2011. Responses of bark beetleassociated bacteria to host monoterpenes and their relationship to insect life histories. J. Chem. Ecol. 37, 808–817.
- Alcock, J., 1982. Natural selection and communication among bark beetles. Fla. Entomol. 65, 17–32.
- Allison, J.D., McKenney, J.L., Miller, D.R., Gimmel, M.L., 2012. Role of Ipsdienol, Ipsenol, and cis-Verbenol in chemical ecology of *Ips avulsus*, *Ips calligraphus*, and *Ips grandicollis* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae). J. Econ. Entomol. 105, 923–929.
- Amman, G.D., Lindgren, B.S., 1995. Semiochemicals for management of mountain pine beetle: Status of research and application. In: Salom, S.M., Hobson, K.R. (Eds.), Application of Semiochemicals for Management of Bark Beetle Infestations-Proceedings of an Informal Conference. Annual Meeting of the Entomological Society of America; 1993 December 12–16. US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Intermountain Research Station, Indianapolis, USA.
- Andersson, M.N., Larsson, M.C., Schlyter, F., 2009. Specificity and redundancy in the olfactory system of the bark beetle *Ips typographus*: single-cell responses to ecologically relevant odors. J. Insect Physiol. 55, 556–567.
- Aukema, B.H., Dahlsten, D.L., Raffa, K.F., 2000. Exploiting behavioural disparities among predators and prey to selectively remove pests: maximizing the ratio of bark beetles to predators removed during semiochemically based trap-out. Environ. Entomol. 29, 651–660.
- Aukema, B.H., Carroll, A.L., Zheng, Y., Zhu, J., Raffa, K.F., Moore, R.D., Stahl, K., Taylor, S.W., 2008. Movement of outbreak populations of mountain pine beetle: influences of spatiotemporal patterns and climate. Ecography 31, 348–358.
- Aukema, B.H., Powell, J.S., Clayton, M.K., Raffa, K.F., 2010. Variation in complex semiochemical signals arising from insects and host plants. Environ. Entomol. 39, 874–882.
- Ayres, M.P., Lombardero, M.J., 2000. Assessing the consequences of global change for forest disturbance from herbivores and pathogens. Sci. Total Environ. 262, 263–286.
- Ayres, M.P., Wilkens, R.T., Ruel, J.J., Lombardero, M.J., Vallery, E., 2000. Nitrogen budgets of phloem-feeding bark beetles with and without symbiotic fungi. Ecology 81, 2198–2210.
- Bakke, A., 1983. Host tree and bark beetle interaction during a mass outbreak of *Ips typographus* in Norway. Z. Angew. Entomol. 96, 118–125.
- Bakke, A., 1989. The recent *lps typographus* outbreak in Norway experiences from a control program. Ecography 12, 515–519.
- Bashford, R., 2003. The use of static traps for the detection and monitoring of exotic forest insects. In: Gottstein Fellowship Report, Melbourne, p. 52.
- Bashford, R., 2012. The development of a port surrounds trapping system for the detection of exotic forest insect pests in Australia. In: New Advances and Contributions to Forestry Research. InTech. pp. 85–100.
- Bedding, R.A., 2009. Controlling the pine-killing woodwasp, Sirex noctilio, with nematodes. In: Hajek, T.R., Glare, T.R., O'Callaghan, M. (Eds.), Use of Microbes for Control and Eradication of Invasive Arthropods. Springer Science and Business, Media. pp. 213–235.
- Bentz, B., Lister, C.K., Schmid, J.M., Mata, S.A., Rasmussen, L.A., Haneman, D., 1989. Does verbenone reduce mountain pine beetle attacks in susceptible stands of ponderosa pine? USDA Forest Service Research Note RM-485.
- Billings, R.F., 1988. Forecasting southern pine beetle infestation trends with pheromone traps. In: Payne, T.L., Saarenmaa, H. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Symposium: Integrated Control of Scolytid Bark Beetles. IUFRO Working Party and XVII International Congress of Entomology, 4 July 1988, Vancouver, BC, Canada. Virginia Polytechnical Institute and State University, Blacksburg, VA., pp. 295–306.
- Birch, M.C., 1978. Chemical communication in pine bark beetles: the interactions among pine bark beetles, their host trees, microorganisms, and associated insects form a system superbly suited for studying the subtlety and diversity of olfactory communication. Am. Sci. 66, 409–419.

- Borden, J.H., 1989. Semiochemicals and bark beetle populations: Exploitation of natural phenomena by pest management strategists. Holarctic Ecol. 12, 501– 510.
- Borden, J.H. (Ed.), 1997. Disruption of Semiochemical-Mediated Aggregation in Bark Beetles. Chapman and Hall, New York.
- Borden, J.H., Hunt, D.W.A., Miller, D.R., Slessor, K.N. (Eds.), 1986. Orientation in Forest Coleoptera: an Uncertain Outcome to Responses by Individual Beetles to Variable Stimuli. Clarendon Press, Oxford, UK.
- Borden, J.H., Wilson, I.M., Gries, R., Chong, L.J., Pierce, H.D.J., Gries, G., 1998. Volatiles from the bark of trembling aspen, *Populus tremuloides* Michx. (Salicaceae) disrupt secondary attraction by the mountain pine beetle, *Dendroctonus ponderosae* Hopkins (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Chemoecology 8, 69–75.
- Borden, J.H., Chong, L.J., Earle, T.J., Huber, D.P.W., 2003. Protection of lodgepole pine from attack by the mountain pine beetle, *Dendroctonus ponderosae* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) using high doses of verbenone in combination with nonhost bark volatiles. For. Chron. 79, 685–691.
- Borden, J.H., Birmingham, A.L., Burleigh, J.S., 2006. Evaluation of the push-pull tactic against the mountain pine beetle using verbenone and non-host volatiles in combination with pheromone-baited trees. For. Chron. 82, 579–590.
- Böröczky, K., Crook, D., Jones, T., Kenny, J., Zylstra, K., Mastro, V.C., Tumlinson, J.H., 2009. Monoalkenes as contact sex pheromone components of the woodwasp *Sirex noctilio*. J. Chem. Ecol. 35, 1202–1211.
- Bright, D.E., 1993. Systematics of bark beetles. In: Schowalter, T.D., Philip, G.M. (Eds.), Beetle-Pathogen Interactions in Conifer Forests. Academic Press, New York, NY, USA, pp. 23–33.
- Byers, J.A., 1989. Chemical ecology of bark beetles. Experientia 45, 271-283.
- Byers, J.A., 1992. Attraction of bark beetles, *Tomicus piniperda*, *Hylurgops palliatus*, and *Trypodendron domesticum* and other insects to short chain alcohols and monoterpenes. J. Chem. Ecol. 18, 2385–2402.
- Byers, J.A., 2000. Strategies of a bark beetle, *Pityogenes bidentatus*, in an olfactory landscape. Naturwissenschaften 87, 503–507.
- Byers, J.A., Birgersson, G., 1990. Pheromone production in a bark beetle independent of myrcene precursor in host pine species. Naturwissenschaften 77, 385–387.
- Byers, J.A., Wood, D.L., 1981. Interspecific effects of pheromones on the attraction of the bark beetles, *Dendroctonus brevicomis* and *Ips paraconfusus* in the laboratory. J. Chem. Ecol. 7, 9–18.
- Byers, J.A., Wood, D.L., Craig, J., Hendry, L.B., 1984. Attractive and inhibitory pheromones produced in the bark beetle, *Dendroctonus brevicomis*, during host colonization: regulation of inter- and intraspecific competition. J. Chem. Ecol. 10, 861–877.
- Byers, J.A., Lanne, B.S., Schlyter, F., Lofqvist, J., Bergstrom, G., 1985. Olfactory recognition of host-tree susceptibility by pine shoot beetles. Naturwissenschaften 72, 324–326.
- Byers, J.A., Zhang, Q.-H., Birgersson, G., 2004. Avoidance of nonhost plants by a bark beetle, *Pityogenes bidentatus*, in a forest of odors. Naturwissenschaften 91, 215– 219.
- Campbell, S.A., Borden, J.H., 2006. Integration of visual and olfactory cues of hosts and non-hosts by three bark beetles (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Ecol. Entomol. 31, 437–449.
- Carnegie, A.J., 2008. Exotic bark beetle turns nasty in pine plantations. In: Bush Telegraph. Autumn. Australia.
- Carnegie, A.J., Bashford, R., 2012. Sirex woodwasp in Australia: Current management strategies, research and emerging issues In: Slippers, B., de Groote, P., Wingfield, M.J. (Eds.), The Sirex Woodwasp and Its Fungal Symbiont: Research and Management of a Worldwide Invasive Pest. Springer, pp. 175–202.
- Carnegie, A.J., Loch, A.D., 2010. Is *Ips grandicollis* disrupting the biological control of *Sirex noctilio* in Australia. In: USDA Research Forum on Invasive Species. pp. 8–10.
- Christiansen, E., Fjone, G., 1993. Pruning enhances the susceptibility of *Picea abies* to infection by the bark beetle-transmitted blue-stain fungus, *Ophiostoma polonicum*. Scand. J. Forest Res. 8, 235–245.
- Christiansen, E., Solheim, H., 1990. The bark beetle-associated blue-stain fungus Ophiostoma polonicum can kill various spruces and douglas-fir. Eur. J. Forest Pathol. 20, 436–446.
- Cochran, P.H., 1998. Examples of mortality and reduced annual increments of white fir induced by drought, insects, and disease at different stand densities. RNPNW- 525. US Department of agriculture, Forest service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, 19 pp.
- Collins, B.J., Rhoades, C.C., Hubbard, R.M., Battaglia, M.A., 2011. Tree regeneration and future stand development after bark beetle infestation and harvesting in Colorado lodgepole pine stands. For. Ecol. Manage. 261, 2168–2175.
- Coster, J.E., Vité, J.P., 1972. Effects of feeding and mating on pheromone release in the southern pine beetle. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 65, 263–266.
- Coutts, M.P., 1969a. Emplacement of fungal spores by the woodwasp Sirex noctilio during oviposition. For. Sci. 15, 412–416.
- Coutts, M.P., 1969b. The mechanism of pathogenicity of Sirex noctilio on Pinus radiata. I. Effects of the symbiotic fungus Amylostereum sp. (Telophoraceae). Aust. J. Biol. Sci. 22, 915–924.
- Coutts, M.P., 1969c. The mechanism of pathogenicity of Sirex noctilio on Pinus radiata. II. Effects of S. noctilio mucus. Aust. J. Biol. Sci. 22, 1153–1161.
- Dallara, P.L., Seybold, S.J., Meyer, H., Tolasch, T., Francke, W., Wood, D.L., 2000. Semiochemicals from three species of *Pityophthorus* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae): identification and field response. Can. Entomol. 132, 889–906.
- Damon, A., 2000. A review of the biology and control of the coffee berry borer, *Hypothenemus hampei* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Bull. Entomol. Res. 90, 453– 465.

- Deglow, E.K., Borden, J.H., 1998. Green leaf volatiles disrupt and enhance response to aggregation pheromones by the ambrosia beetle, *Gnathotrichus sulcatus* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Can. J. For. Res. 28, 1697–1705.
- Dickens, J.C., Billings, R.E., Payne, T.L., 1992. Green leaf volatiles interrupt aggregation pheromone response in bark beetles infesting southern pines. Experientia 48, 523–524.
- Dodds, K.J., Miller, D.R., 2010. Test of nonhost angiosperm volatiles and verbenone to protect trap trees for *Sirex noctilio* (Hymenoptera: Siricidae) from attacks by bark beetles (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) in the Northeastern United States. J. Econ. Entomol. 103, 2094–2099.
- Edmonds, R.L., Eglitis, A., 1989. The role of the Douglas-fir beetle and wood borers in the decomposition of and nutrient release from Douglas-fir logs. Can. J. For. Res. 19, 853–859.
- El-Sayed, A.M., Suckling, D.M., Wearing, C.H., Byers, J.A., 2006. Potential of mass trapping for long-term pest management and eradication of invasive species. J. Econ. Entomol. 99, 1550–1564.
- El-Sayed, A.M., Suckling, D.M., Byers, J.A., Jang, E.B., Wearing, C.H., 2009. Potential of "Lure and Kill" in long-term pest management and eradication of invasive species. J. Econ. Entomol. 102, 815–835.
- Erbilgin, N., Raffa, K.F., 2000. Opposing effects of host monoterpenes on responses by two sympatric species of bark beetles to their aggregation pheromones. J. Chem. Ecol. 26, 2527–2548.
- Erbilgin, N., Powell, J.S., Raffa, K.F., 2003. Effect of varying monoterpene concentrations on the response of *Ips pini* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) to its aggregation pheromone: implications for pest management and ecology of bark beetles. Agric. For. Entomol. 5, 269–274.
- Erbilgin, N., Gillette, N.E., Mori, S.R., Stein, J.D., Owen, D.R., Wood, D.L., 2007. Acetophenone as an anti-attractant for the western pine beetle, *Dendroctonus brevicomis* LeConte (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). J. Chem. Ecol. 33, 817–823.
- Etxebeste, I., Pajares, J.A., 2011. Verbenone protects pine trees from colonisation by the six-toothed pine bark beetle, *Ips sexdentatus* Boern. (Col.: Scolytinae). J. Appl. Entomol. 135, 258–268.
- Faccoli, M., Stergulc, F., 2004. Ips typographus (L.) pheromone trapping in south Alps: spring catches determine damage thresholds. J. Appl. Entomol. 128, 307–311.
- Faccoli, M., Stergulc, F., 2006. Can pheromone trapping predict lps typographus outbreaks? An example from the Southern Alps, pp. 32–40. In: Csóka, G., Hirka, A., Koltay, A., (Eds.), Biotic Damage in Forests. Proceedings of the IUFRO (WP 7.03.10). Symposium Held In Mátrafüred, Hungary, September 12–16, 2004.
- Faccoli, M., Stergulc, F., 2008. Damage reduction and performance of mass trapping devices for forest protection against the spruce bark beetle, *Ips typographus* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae). Ann. For. Sci. 65, 1–9.
- Fawcett, T.W., Johnstone, R.A., 2003. Optimal assessment of multiple cues. Proc. R. Soc. London B 270, 1637–1643.
- Fettig, C.J., Allen, K.K., Borys, R.R., Christopherson, J., Dabney, C.P., Eager, T.J., Gibson, K.E., Hebertson, E.G., Long, D.F., Munson, A.S., Shea, P.J., Smith, S.L., Haverty, M.I., 2006. Effectiveness of bifenthrin (Onyx) and carbaryl (Sevin SL) for protecting individual, high-value conifers from bark beetle attack (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Scolytinae) in the Western United States. J. Econ. Entomol. 99, 1691–1698.
- Fettig, C.J., Klepzig, K.D., Billings, R.F., Munson, A.S., Nebeker, T.E., Negron, J.F., Nowak, J.T., 2007a. The effectiveness of vegetation management practices for prevention and control of bark beetle infestations in coniferous forests of the western and southern United States. For. Ecol. Manage. 238, 24–53.
- Fettig, C.J., McKelvey, S.R., Dabney, C.P., Borys, R.R., 2007b. The response of Dendroctonus valens (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) and Temnochila chlorodia (Coleoptera: Trogossitidae) to Ips paraconfusus (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) pheromone components and verbenone. Can. Entomol. 139, 141–145.
- Fettig, C.J., Dabney, C.P., McKelvey, S.R., Huber, D.P.W., 2008. Nonhost angiosperm volatiles and verbenone protect individual ponderosa pines from attack by western pine beetle and red turpentine beetle (Coleoptera: Curculionidae, Scolytinae). West. J. Appl. For. 23, 40–45.
- Fettig, C.J., McKelvey, S.R., Dabney, C.P., Borys, R.R., Huber, D.P.W., 2009a. Response of *Dendroctonus brevicomis* to different release rates of nonhost angiosperm volatiles and verbenone in trapping and tree protection studies. J. Appl. Entomol. 133, 143–154.
- Fettig, C.J., McKelvey, S.R., Borys, R.R., Dabney, C.P., Hamud, S.M., Nelson, L.J., Seybold, S.J., 2009b. Efficacy of verbenone for protecting ponderosa pine stands from western pine beetle (Coleoptera: Curculionidae, Scolytinae) attack in California. J. Econ. Entomol. 102, 1846–1858.
- Fettig, C.J., McKelvey, S.R., Dabney, C.P., Huber, D.P.W., 2012. Responses of Dendroctonus brevicomis (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) in behavioral assays: Implications to development of a semiochemical-based tool for tree protection. J. Econ. Entomol. 105, 149–160.
- Fettig, C.J., Burnside, R.E., Hayes, C.J., Kruse, J.J., Lisuzzo, N.J., McKelvey, S.R., Mori, S.R., Nickel, S.K., Schultz, M.E., 2013. Factors influencing northern spruce engraver colonization of white spruce slash in interior Alaska. For. Ecol. Manage. 289, 58–68.
- Francke, W., Bartels, J., Meyer, H., Schröder, F., Kohnle, U., Baader, E., Pierre Vité, J., 1995. Semiochemicals from bark beetles: New results, remarks, and reflections. J. Chem. Ecol. 21, 1043–1063.
- Garvan, M., Parsons, M., 2011. Australian Plantation Statistics 2011. In: Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences, Canberra.
- Ghaioule, D., El Omari, H., Rahouti, M., Lieutier, F., 2007. Ophiostoma ips colonisation of phloem and sapwood in maritime pine logs. Tunisian J. Plant Prot. 2, 85–97.

- Gilbert, M., Vouland, G., Gregoire, J.-C., 2001. Past attacks influence host selection by the solitary bark beetle *Dendroctonus micans*. Ecol. Entomol. 26, 133–142.
- Gillette, N.E., Munson, A.S., 2009. Semiochemical sabotage: behavioral chemicals for protection of western conifers from bark beetle. In: Hayes, J.L., Lundquist, J.E., (Eds.), Western Bark Beetle Research Group – A Unique Collaboration with Forest Health Protection symposium, Society of American Foresters Conference, 23–28 October 2007, Portland, OR. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-784, Portland. US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research. pp. 85–109.
- Gillette, N.E., Mehmel, C.J., Mori, S.R., Webster, J.N., Wood, D.L., Erbilgin, N., Owen, D.R., 2012. The push-pull tactic for mitigation of mountain pine beetle (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) damage in lodgepole and whitebark pines. Environ. Entomol. 41, 1575–1586.
- Goyer, R.A., Lenhard, G.J., Strom, B.L., 2004. The influence of silhouette color and orientation on arrival and emergence of *Ips* pine engravers and their predators in loblolly pine. For. Ecol. Manage. 191, 147–155.
- Graves, A.D., Holsten, E.H., Ascerno, M.E., Zogas, K.P., Hard, J.S., Huber, D.P.W., Blanchette, R.A., Seybold, S.J., 2008. Protection of spruce from colonisation by the bark beetle, *Ips perturbatus*, in Alaska. For. Ecol. Manage. 256, 1825–1839.
- Grégoire, J.-C., Evans, H.F., 2004. Damage and control of Bawbilt organisms an overview. In: Lieutier, F., Day, K.R., Battisti, A., Grégoire, J.-C., Evan, H.F. (Eds.), Bark and Wood Boring Insects in Living Trees in Europe. Kluwer Academic Press, Dordrecth, The Netherlands, pp. 19–37.
- Grosman, D.M., Fettig, C.J., Jorgensen, C.L., Munson, A.S., 2010. Effectiveness of two systemic insecticides for protecting western conifers from mortality due to bark beetle attack. W. J. Appl. For. 25, 181–185.
- Haack, R.A., 2006. Exotic bark and wood boring Coleoptera in the United States: recent establishments and interceptions. Can. J. For. Res. 36, 269–288.
- Hansen, E.M., Bentz, B.J., Munson, A.S., Vandygriff, J.C., Turner, D.L., 2006. Evaluation of funnel traps for estimating tree mortality and associated population phase of spruce beetle in Utah. Can. J. For. Res. 36, 2574–2584.
- Haugen, D.A., Underwood, M.G., 1990. *Sirex noctilio* control program in response to the 1987 green triangle outbreak. Aust. For. 53, 33–40.
- Haverty, M.I., Shea, P.J., Wenz, J.M., 1997. Metasystox-R, applied in Mauget injectors, ineffective in protecting individual ponderosa pines from western pine beetles. U.S. Dep. Agric.- Forest Service Pacific Southwest Research Station, Research Note 420, Albany, CA.
- Hayes, J.L., Strom, B.L., 1994. 4-Allylanisole as an inhibitor of bark beetle (Coleoptera, Scolytidae) aggregation. J. Econ. Entomol. 87, 1586–1594.
- Hayes, C.J., Fettig, C.J., Merrill, L.D., 2009. Evaluation of multiple funnel traps and stand characteristics for estimating western pine beetle-caused tree mortality. J. Econ. Entomol. 102, 2170–2182.
- Hofstetter, R.W., Chen, Z., Gaylord, M.L., McMillin, J.D., Wagner, M.R., 2008. Synergistic effects of a-pinene and exo-brevicomin on pine bark beetles and associated insects in Arizona. J. Appl. Entomol. 132, 387–397.
- Hovorka, O., Kindl, J., Kalinová, B., Knížek, M., Vrkočová, P., Koutek, B., 2005. The role of beetle and host volatiles in host colonisation in the European oak bark beetle, *Scolytus intricatus* (Ratzeburg) (Col., Scolytidae). J. Appl. Entomol. 129, 221–226.
- Huber, D.P.W., Borden, J.H., 2001. Protection of lodgepole pines from mass attack by mountain pine beetle, *Dendroctonus ponderosae*, with nonhost angiosperm volatiles and verbenone. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 99, 131–141.
- Huber, D.P.W., Borden, J.H., 2003. Comparative behavioural responses of Dryocoetes confusus Swaine, Dendroctonus rufipennis (Kirby), and Dendroctonus ponderosae Hopkins (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) to angiosperm tree bark volatiles. Environ. Entomol. 32, 742–751.
- Huber, D.P.W., Gries, R., Borden, J.H., Pierce Jr., H.D., 2000. A survey of antennal responses by five species of coniferophagous bark beetles (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) to bark volatiles of six species of angiosperm trees. Chemoecology 10, 103–113.
- Hudgins, J.W., Krekling, T., Franceschi, V.R., 2003. Distribution of calcium oxalate crystals in the secondary phloem of conifers: a constitutive defense mechanism? New Phytol. 159, 677–690.
- Humble, L., 1999. Implications of non-indigenous insect introductions in forest ecosystems. In: Integrated Management and Dynamics of Forest Defoliating Insects. IUFRO Joint Working Group Meeting, Victoria, British Columbia. Hunt, D.W.A., Borden, J.H., 1990. Conversion of verbenols to verbenone by yeasts
- Hunt, D.W.A., Borden, J.H., 1990. Conversion of verbenols to verbenone by yeasts isolated from *Dendroctonus ponderosae* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). J. Chem. Ecol. 16, 1385–1397.
- Hunt, D.W.A., Borden, J.H., Lindgren, B.S., Gries, G., 1989. The role of autoxidation of alpha-pinene in the production of pheromones of *Dendroctonus ponderosae* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Can. J. For. Res. 19, 1275–1282.
- Hynum, B.G., Berryman, A.A., 1980. Dendroctonus ponderosae (Coleoptera: Scolytidae): pre-aggregation landing and gallery initiation on lodgepole pine. Can. Entomol. 112, 185–191.
- Ivković, M., Gapare, W.J., Wharton, T., Jovanovic, T., Elms, S., McRae, T.A., Wu, H.X., 2010. Risks affecting breeding objectives for *Radiata* pine in Australia. Aust. For. 73, 265–278.
- Jactel, H., Goulard, M., Menassieu, P., Goujon, G., 2002. Habitat diversity in forest plantations reduces infestations of the pine stem borer, *Dioryctria sylvestrella*. J. Appl. Ecol. 39, 618–628.
- Jactel, H., Nicoll, B.C., Branco, M., Gonzalez-Olabarria, J.R., Grodzki, W., Långström, B., Moreira, F., Netherer, S., Orazio, C., Piou, D., Santos, H., Schelhaas, M.J., Tojic, K., Vodde, F., 2009. The influences of forest stand management on biotic and abiotic risks of damage. Ann. For. Sci. 66, 1–18.
- Kausrud, K., Okland, B., Skarpaas, O., Gregoire, J.C., Erbilgin, N., Stenseth, N.C., 2012. Population dynamics in changing environments: the case of an eruptive forest pest species. Biol. Rev. 87, 34–51.

- Klepzig, K.D., Raffa, K.F., Smalley, E.B., 1991. Association of an insect-fungal complex with red pine decline in Wisconsin. For. Sci. J. 37, 1119–1139.
- Klimetzek, D., Francke, W., 1980. Relationship between the enantiomeric composition of c~-pinene in host trees and the production of verbenols in *Ips* species. Experientia 36, 1343–1345.
- Klimetzek, D., Kohler, J., Vite, J.P., Kohnle, U., 1986. Dosage response to ethanol mediates host selection by 'secondary' bark beetles. Naturwissenschaften 73, 270–272.
- Kurz, W.A., Dymond, C.C., Slenson, G., Rampley, G.J., Carroll, A.L., Ebata, T., Safranyik, L., 2008. Mountain pine beetle and forest carbon feedback to climate change. Nature 452, 987–990.
- Langstrom, B., Hellqvist, C., 1993. Induced and spontaneous attacks by pine shoot beetles on young Scots pine trees: tree mortality and beetle performance. J. Appl. Entomol. 115, 25–36.
- Lawson, S.A., Morgan, F.D., 1992. Rearing of two predators, *Thanasimus dubius* and *Temnochila virescens*, for the biological control of *Ips grandicollis* in Australia. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 65, 225–233.
- Leufvén, A., Bergström, G., Falsen, E., 1984. Interconversion of verbenols and verbenone by identified yeasts isolated from the spruce bark beetle *Ips typographus*. J. Chem. Ecol. 10, 1349–1361.
- Lieutier, F., 2002. Mechanisms of resistance in conifers and bark beetle attack strategies. In: Wagner, M.R., Clancy, K.M., Lieutier, F., Paine, T.D. (Eds.), Mechanisms and Deployment of Resistance in Trees to Insects Dordrecht, Klower.
- Lieutier, F., Day, K.R., Battisti, A., Grégoire, J.-C., Evans, H.F., 2004. Bark and Wood Boring Insects in Living Trees in Europe, a Synthesis. Kluwer Academic Publisher, Dordrecht.
- Lindgren, B.S., Borden, J.H., 1993. Displacement and aggregation of mountain pine beetles, *Dendroctonus ponderosae* (Coleoptera; Scolytidae), in response to their antiaggregation and aggregation pheromones. Can. J. For. Res. 23, 286–290.
- López, S., González, M., Iturrondobeitia, J.C., Goldarazena, A., 2012. Disruption of trans-pityol-mediated attraction by racemic trans-conophthorin in twig beetle *Pityophthorus pubescens*. J. Appl. Entomol.. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.2012.01724.x.
- Lui, Y., Dai, H., 2006. Application of bark beetle semiochemicals for quarantine of bark beetles in China. J. Insect Sci. 6, 1–6.
- Marini, L., Ayres, M.P., Battisti, A., Faccoli, M., 2012. Climate affects severity and altitudinal distribution of outbreaks in an eruptive bark beetle. Climatic Change 115, 327–341.
- Martikainen, P., Siitonen, J., Kaila, L., Punttila, P., Rauh, J., 1999. Bark beetles (Coleoptera, Scolytidae) and associated beetle species in mature managed and old-growth boreal forests in southern Finland. For. Ecol. Manage. 116, 233–245.
- Marvaldi, A.E., Sequiera, A.S., O'brien, C.W., Farrell, B.W., 2002. Molecular and morphological phylogenetics of weevils (Coleoptera, Curculionoidea): do niche shifts accompany diversification? Syst. Biol. 51, 761–785.
- Mattson, W.J., Niemela, P., Millers, I., Inguanzo, Y., 1994. Immigrant Phytophagous Insects on Woody Plants in the United States and Canada An Annotated List. USDA For. Ser. Gen. Tech. Rep. NC-. In, p. 27.
- McCarty, F.A., Billings, P., Richerson, J.V., Payne, T.L., Edson, L.J., 1980. Response of the southern pine beetle to behavioral chemicals in the laboratory. J. Georgia Entomol. Soc. 15, 307–317.
- McMaugh, T., 2005. Guidelines for Surveillance for Plant Pests in Asia and the Pacific. In: Monograph, A. (Ed.), p. 192.
- Miller, M.C., Moser, J.C., McGregor, M., Gregoire, J.C., Baisier, M., Dahlsten, D.L., Werner, R.A., 1987. Potential for biological control of native North American *Dendroctonus* beetles (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 80, 417– 428.
- Moeck, H.A., Wood, D.L., Lindahl, K.Q., 1981. Host selection behavior of bark beetles attacking *Pinus ponderosa*, with special emphasis on the western pine beetle, *Dendroctonus brevicomis*. J. Chem. Ecol. 7, 49–83.
- Morgan, F.D., Griffith, J.A., 1989. Forty years of Sirex noctilio and Ips grandicollis in Australia. New Zeal. J. For. Sci. 19, 198–209.
- Müller, M., Job, H., 2009. Managing natural disturbance in protected areas: tourists'attitude towards the bark beetle in a German national park. Biol. Conserv. 142, 375–383.
- Müller, J., Bubler, H., Gobner, M., Rettelbach, T., Duelli, P., 2008. The European spruce bark beetle *lps typographus* (L.) in a national park – from pest to keystone species. Biodivers. Conserv. 17, 2979–3001.
- Nebeker, T.E., Hodges, J.D., Blanche, C.A., Honea, C.R., Tisdale, R.A., 1992. Variation in the constitutive defensive system of Loblolly pine in relation to bark beetle attack. For. Sci. 38, 457–466.
- Neumann, F.G., 1987. Introduced bark beetles on exotic trees in Australia with special reference to infestations of *Ips grandicollis* in pine plantations. Aust. For. 50, 166–178.
- Nordlund, D.A., 1982. Semiochemicals: a review of the terminology. In: Nordlund, D.A., Jones, R.L., Lewis, W.J. (Eds.), Semiochemicals: Their Role in Pest Control. John Wiley and Sons, New York, pp. 13–28.
- Norin, T., 2007. Semiochemicals for insect pest management. Pure Appl. Chem. 79, 2129–2136.
- Orbay, L., McClean, J.A., Sauder, B.J., Cottell, P.L., 1994. Economic-losses resulting from ambrosia beetle infestation of sawlogs in coastal British-Columbia, Canada. Can. J. For. Res. 24, 1266–1276.
- Paine, T.D., Hanlon, C.C., 1991. Response of *Dendroctonus brevicomis* and *Ips paraconfusus* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) to combinations of synthetic pheromone attractants and inhibitors verbenone and ipsdienol. J. Chem. Ecol. 17, 2163–2176.

- Paine, T.D., Raffa, K.F., Harrington, T.C., 1997. Interactions among scolytid bark beetles, their associated fungi, and live host conifers. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 42, 179–206.
- Paré, P.W., Tumlinson, J.H., 1996. Plant volatile signals in response to herbivore feeding. Fla. Entomol. 79, 93–103.
- Payne, T.L., Coster, J.E., Richerson, J.V., Edson, L.J., Hart, E.R., 1978. Field response of the southern pine beetle to behavioral chemicals. Environ. Entomol. 7, 578–582.
- Payne, T.L., Andryszak, N.A., Weiser, H., Dixon, E.A., Ibrahim, N., Coers, L., 1988. Antennal olfactory and behavioral response of the southern pine beetle, *Dendroctonus frontalis*, to analogs of its aggregation pheromone frontalin. J. Chem. Ecol. 14, 1217–1225.
- Pena, J.E., Crane, J.H., Capinera, J.L., Duncan, R.E., Kendra, P.E., Ploetz, R.C., McLean, S., Brar, G., Thomas, M.C., Cave, R.D., 2011. Chemical control of the Redbay Ambrosia beetle, *Xyleborus glabratus*, and other Scolytinae (Coleoptera: Curculionidae). Fla. Entomol. 94, 882–896.
- Poland, T.M., Borden, J.H., Stock, A.J., Chong, L.J., 1998. Green leaf volatiles disrupt responses by the spruce beetle, *Dendroctonus rufipennis*, and the western pine beetle, *Dendroctonus brevicomis* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) to attractant-baited traps. J. Entomol. Soc. Brit. Columbia 95, 17–24.
- Prokopy, R.J., Owens, E.D., 1983. Visual detection of plants by herbivorous insects. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 28, 337–364.
- Pureswaran, D.S., Borden, J.H., 2004. New repellent semiochemicals for three species of *Dendroctonus* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Chemoecology 14, 67–75.
- Pureswaran, D.S., Borden, J.H., 2005. Primary attraction and kairomonal host discrimination in three species of *Dendroctonus* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Agric. For. Entomol. 7, 219–230.
- Raffa, K.F., 2001. Mixed messages across multiple trophic levels: the ecology of bark beetle chemical communication systems. Chemoecology 11, 49–65.
- Raffa, K.F., Phillips, T.W., Salom, S.M., 1993. Interactions among bark beetles, pathogens, and conifers in north american forests:. In: Schowalter, T.O., Filip, G. (Eds.), Strategies and Mechanisms of Host Colonisation by Bark Beetles. Academic Press Ltd., New York, pp. 103–128.
- Raffa, K.F., Aukema, B.H., Erbilgin, N., Klepzig, K.D., Wallin, K.F., 2005. Interactions among conifer terpenoids and bark beetles across multiple levels of scale: An attempt to understand links between population patterns and physiological processes. In: John, T.R. (Ed.), Recent Adv. Phytochem. Elsevier, pp. 79–118.
- Raffa, K., Aukema, B., Bentz, B.J., Carroll, A.L., Hicke, J.A., Turner, M.G., Romme, W.H., 2008. Cross-scale drivers of natural disturbances prone to anthropogenic amplification: the dynamics of bark beetle eruptions. Bioscience 58, 501–517.
- Rappaport, N.G., Owen, D.R., Stein, J.D., 2001. Interruption of semiochemicalmediated attraction of *Dendroctonus valens* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) and selected nontarget insects by verbenone. Environ. Entomol. 30, 837–841.
- Raty, L., Drumont, A., De Windt, N., Grégoire, J.-C., 1995. Mass trapping of the spruce bark beetle *Ips typographus* L.: traps or trap trees? For. Ecol. Manag. 78, 191– 205.
- Raymond, C.A., 2008. Influence of prior land use on wood quality of *Pinus radiata* in New South Wales. Australia. For. Ecol. Manage. 255, 2626–2633.
- Renwick, J.A.A., Vité, J.P., 1969. Bark beetle attractants: mechanisms of colonisation by *Dendroctonus frontalis*. Nature 224, 1222–1223.
- Ryker, L.C., Rudinsky, J.A., 1976. Sound production in Scolytidae: acoustic signals of male and female *Dendroctonus valens* LeConte. Z. Angew. Entomol. 80, 113–118.
- Schiebe, C., Blaženec, M., Jakuš, R., Unelius, C.R., Schlyter, F., 2011. Semiochemical diversity diverts bark beetle attacks from Norway spruce edges. J. Appl. Entomol. 135, 726–737.
- Schowalter, T.D., Filip, G.M., 1993. Beetle–Pathogen Interactions in Conifer Forests. Academic Press, London.
- Schowalter, T.D., Turchin, P., 1993. Southern pine beetle infestation development: interaction between pine and hardwood basal areas. For. Sci. 39, 201–210.
- Schowalter, T.D., Coulson, R.N., Crossley, J.D.A., 1981. Role of southern pine beetle and fire in maintenance of structure and function of the southeastern coniferous forest. Environ. Entomol. 10, 821–825.
- Schroeder, L.M., Lindelow, A., 1989. Attraction of scolytids and associated beetles by different absolute amounts and proportions of A-pinene and ethanol. J. Chem. Ecol. 15, 807–818.
- Schwalbe, C.P., Mastro, V.C., 1988. Multispecific trapping techniques for exotic pest detection. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 21, 43–51.
- Sevim, A., Gokce, C., Erbas, Z., Ozkan, F., 2012. Bacteria from *Ips sexdentatus* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) and their biocontrol potential. J. Basic Microbiol. 52, 695–704.
- Seybold, S.J., Bohlmann, J., Raffa, K.F., 2000. Biosynthesis of coniferophagous bark beetle pheromones and conifer isoprenoids: evolutionary perspective and synthesis. Can. Entomol. 132, 697–753.
- Seybold, S., Huber, D., Lee, J., Graves, A.D., Bohlmann, J., 2006. Pine monoterpenes and pine bark beetles: a marriage of convenience for defense and chemical communication. Phytochem. Rev. 5, 143–178.
- Shea, P.J., McGregor, M.D., Daterman, G.E., 1992. Aerial application of verbenone reduces attack of lodgepole pine by mountain pine beetle. Can. J. For. Res. 22, 436–441.
- Shepherd, W.P., Huber, D.P.W., Seybold, S.J., Fettig, C.J., 2007. Antennal responses of the western pine beetle, *Dendroctonus brevicomis* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae), to stem volatiles of its primary host, *Pinus ponderosa*, and nine sympatric nonhost angiosperms and conifers. Chemoecology 17, 209–221.
- Silverstein, R.M., 1979. Enantiomeric composition and bioactivity of chiral semiochemicals in insects. In: Ritter, F.J. (Ed.), Chemical Ecology: Odour Communication in Animals. Elsevier, North-Holland, pp. 133–146.

- Simard, M., Powell, E.N., Raffa, K.F., Turner, M.G., 2012. What explains landscape patterns of tree mortality caused by bark beetle outbreaks in greater yellowstone? Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 21, 556–567.
- Simpson, R.F., 1976. Bioassay of pine oil components as attractants for Sirex noctilio (Hymenoptera: Siricidae) using electroantennogram techniques. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 19, 11–18.
- Simpson, R.F., McQuilkin, R.M., 1976. Identification of volatiles from felled *Pinus radiata* and the electroantennograms they elicit from *Sirex noctilio*. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 19, 205–213.
- Six, D.L., Paine, T.D., 1999. A phylogenetic comparison of ascomycete mycangial fungi and *Dendroctonus* bark beetles (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 92, 159–166.
- Six, D.L., Wingfield, M.J., 2011. The role of phytopathogenicity in bark beetle-fungus symbioses: a challenge to the classic paradigm. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 56, 255– 272.
- Slippers, B., de Groot, P., Wingfield, M.J., 2012. The Sirex Woodwasp and its Fungal Symbiont: Research and Management of a Worldwide Invasive Pest, Springer. p. 301.
- Snyder, M.A., Bower, N.W., 2005. Resistance to bark beetle attack in caribbean pine: potential role of 4-allylanisole. Biotropica 37, 702–705.
- Stone, C., Simpson, J.A., 1991. Effect of six chemicals on the insects, mites, nematodes and fungi associated with *Ips grandicollis* (Eichhoff) (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) in north eastern New South Wales. Aust. Entomol. Soc. 30, 21–28.
- Strom, B.L., Roton, L.M., Goyer, R.A., Meeker, J.R., 1999. Visual and semiochemical disruption of host finding in the southern pine beetle. Ecol. Appl. 9, 1028–1038. Strom, B.L., Clarke, S.R., Shea, P.J., 2004. Efficacy of 4-allylanisole-based products for
- protecting individual loblolly pines from *Dendroctonus frontalis* Zimmermann (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Can. Rech. For. 34, 659–665.
- Sullivan, B.T., Shepherd, W.P., Pureswaran, D.S., Tashiro, T., Mori, K., 2007. Evidence that (+)-endo-brevicomin is a male-produced component of the southern pine beetle aggregation pheromone. J. Chem. Ecol. 33, 1510–1527.
- Thistle, H.W., Peterson, H., Allwine, G., Lamb, B., Strand, T., Holsten, E.H., Shea, P.J., 2004. Surrogate pheromone plumes in three forest trunk spaces: composite statistics and case studies. For. Sci. 50, 610–625.
- Väisänen, R., Biström, O., Heliövaara, K., 1993. Sub-cortical Coleoptera in dead pines and spruces: is primeval species composition maintained in managed forests? Biodivers. Conserv. 2, 95–113.
- van Tol, R., van der Sommen, A.T.C., Boff, M.I.C., van Bezooijen, J., Sabelis, M.W., Smits, P.H., 2001. Plants protect their roots by alerting the enemies of grubs. Ecol. Lett. 4, 292–294.
- Vité, J.P., Renwick, J.A.A., 1971. Population aggregating pheromone in the bark beetle, *Ips grandicollis*. J. Insect Physiol. 17, 1699–1704.
- Vité, J.P., Bakke, A., Renwick, J.A.A., 1972. Pheromones in *Ips* (Coleoptera: Scolytidae): occurrence and production. Can. Entomol. 104, 1967–1975.
- Wallin, K.F., Raffa, K.F., 2002. Density-mediated responses of bark beetles to host allelochemicals: a link between individual behaviour and population dynamics. Ecol. Entomol. 27, 484–492.

- Walter, A.J., Kells, S.A., Venette, R.C., Seybold, S.J., 2010. Boring in response to bark and phloem extracts from North American trees does not explain host acceptance behavior of Orthotomicus erosus (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Environ. Entomol. 39, 661–669.
- Wargo, P.M., Harrington, T.C., 1991. Host stress and susceptibility. In: Shaw, C.G., Kile, G.A. (Eds.), Armillaria Root Disease. Forest Service, United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC. pp. 88–101.
- Wermelinger, B., 2004. Ecology and management of the spruce bark beetle *Ips typographus* a review of recent research. For. Ecol. Manage. 202, 67–82.
- Werner, R.A., 1995. Toxicity and repellency of 4-allylanisole and monoterpenes from white spruce and tamarack to the spruce beetle and eastern larch beetle (Coleoptera, Scolytidae). Environ. Entomol. 24, 372–379.
- Werner, R.A., Holsten, E.H., Hastings, F.L., 1986. Evaluation of pine oil for protecting white spruce from spruce beetle (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) attack. J. Entomol. Soc. BC 83, 3–6.
- Weslien, J., 1992. The arthropod complex associated with *Ips typographus* (L.) (Coleoptera, Scolytidae): species composition, phenology and impact on barkbeetle productivity. Entomol. Fenn. 3, 205–213.
- Weslien, J., Martin Schroeder, L., 1999. Population levels of bark beetles and associated insects in managed and unmanaged spruce stands. For. Ecol. Manage. 115, 267–275.
- Wickman, B.E., 1987. The Battles Against Bark Beetles in Crater Lake National Park: 1925-34. USDA For. Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep PNW. 40p.
- Williams, D.W., Liebhold, A.M., 1995. Herbivorous insects and global change: potential changes in the spatial distribution of forest defoliator outbreaks. J. Biogeogr. 22, 665–671.
- Wilson, I.M., Borden, J.H., Gries, R., Gries, G., 1996. Green leaf volatiles as antiaggregants for the mountain pine beetle, *Dendroctonus ponderosae* Hopkins (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). J. Chem. Ecol. 22, 1861–1875.
- Wood, D.L., 1982. The role of pheromones, kairomones, and allomones in the host selection and colonisation behavior of bark beetles. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 27, 411–446.
- Zhang, Q.H., 2003. Interruption of aggregation pheromone in *Ips typographus* (L.)(Col.:Scolytidae) by non-host bark volatiles. Agric. For. Entomol. 5, 145– 153.
- Zhang, Q.H., Schlyter, F., 2004. Olfactory recognition and behavioural avoidance of angiosperm nonhost volatiles by conifer-inhabiting bark beetles. Agric. For. Entomol. 6, 1–19.
- Zhang, Q.H., Schlyter, F., Anderson, P., 1999. Green leaf volatiles interrupt pheromone response of spruce bark beetle, *Ips typographus*. J. Chem. Ecol. 25, 2847–2861.
- Zhang, Q.-H., Schlyter, F., Birgersson, G., 2000. Bark volatiles from non-host deciduous trees of spruce bark beetle, *Ips typographus* (L.) (Coleoptera: Scolytidae): chemical and electrophysiological analysis. Chemoecology 10, 69–80.
- Zhang, Q.-H., Liu, G.-T., Schlyter, F., Birgersson, G., Anderson, P., Valeur, P., 2001. Olfactory response of *Ips duplicatus* to nonhost leaf and bark volatiles in Inner Mongolia, China. J. Chem. Ecol. 27, pp. 955–1009.